6-21-2011

Washington Federal Savings v. Engelen Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38484

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Appellants H. Craig and Kristen Van Engelen (“the Van Engelens”) appeal the summary judgment improperly entered in favor of Washington Federal Savings (“Washington Federal” or “the Bank”). The entry of summary judgment in favor of Washington Federal should be reversed because there are genuine issues of material fact. In the underlying action, Washington Federal sought to enforce a continuing Guarantee, which allegedly made the Van Engelens’ personally liable for loans entered into by their real estate development company, Van Engelen Development, Inc. (“VED”). (R. Vol. I, p. 00008-00012.) The Bank brought a motion for summary judgment on its claims. (R. Vol. I, p. 00019-00020.) The Van Engelens opposed this motion by asserting that the Bank made multiple misrepresentations in which it stated that the loans were not secured by a personal guarantee, and concealed the existence of the continuing Guarantee. (R. Vol. I, p. 00398-00416.)

In particular, the Van Engelens argued that genuine issues of material fact existed concerning whether the Bank’s affirmative misrepresentations and nondisclosures (1) constituted a waiver of the Guarantee; (2) estopped the Bank from enforcing the Guarantee; (3) rendered the Guarantee voidable; (4) caused the Guarantee to be unenforceable; (5) discharged the Van Engelens; (6) constituted a breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; or (7) fraudulently induced the Van Engelens to cause VED to enter the transaction(s). (*Id.*) The Van Engelens also argued that there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the Guarantee was intended to extend to the loan at issue, and whether the Bank had failed to mitigate the

claimed or alleged damage. (*Id.*) The district court improperly rejected these arguments and entered summary judgment in favor of Washington Federal. (Tr. p. 45 L. 9 – p. 78 L. 2; R. Vol. III, p. 00519-00520.) The Van Engelens appeal, asserting that the entry of summary judgment was in error because genuine issues of material fact exist on their defenses.

B. Statement of the Case, Factual Background, and Course of the Proceedings

1. Factual Background

In 2002, VED borrowed \$126,000 from Washington Federal (“the 2002 Loans”). (R. Vol. I, p. 00327-00328, at p. 64 L. 14 – p. 65 L. 16; R. Vol. I, p. 00096, at ¶ 3; R. Vol. I, p. 00086, at ¶ 3.) In the course of that transaction, the Van Engelens signed a personal continuing guarantee (the “Guarantee”). (R. Vol. I, p. 00056-00057.) While the Van Engelens have no memory of signing this Guarantee, they do not dispute that they signed it. (R. Vol. II, p. 00369, at p. 19 L. 15-25; R. Vol. II, p. 00386, at p. 9 L. 16-23.) The Guarantee was “continuing” guarantee by which the Van Engelens allegedly guaranteed any present or future obligation of VED to Washington Federal. It states:

Guarantor guarantees payment to Lender of all Obligations that Borrower owes to Lender now or in the future . . . Guarantor’s Promise extends to all Obligations which Borrower owes Lender now or in the future . . . Guarantor’s Promise shall be a continuing guarantee as to any present or future Obligations Borrower owes Lender and shall remain effective until Lender actually receives written notice from Guarantor that Guarantor withdraws Guarantor’s Promise.”

(R. Vol. I, p. 00056.) As the Van Engelens were unaware of this Guarantee, they never gave written notice to the Bank revoking it. (R. Vol. II, p. 00369, at p. 20 L. 6-15.) Within one year, VED fully paid the \$126,000 from the 2002 Loans. (R. Vol. I, p. 00086-00087, at ¶ 5; R. Vol. I, p. 00096, at ¶ 5.) For several years following the 2002 Loans, the Van Engelens and their real

estate development entities (including VED and another entity called Northwest Development, LLC (“NWD”)) (R. Vol. II, p. 00366, at p. 6 L. 14-16; R. Vol. III, p. 00451, at ¶3)), declined to do business with Washington Federal. (R. Vol. II, p. 00370-00371, at p. 24 L. 19 – p. 25 L. 24.; R. Vol. II, p. 00388, at p. 18 L. 24 – p. 19 L. 15 and p. 20 L. 13-16.) This decision was based on the Van Engelens’ feeling that, in the previous transaction, the Bank had breached their trust and confidence. (R. Vol. II, p. 00370-00371, at p. 24 L. 19 – p. 25 L. 24.)

In December 2004, a representative of the Bank approached the Van Engelens about renewing their relationship. (R. Vol. I, p. 00097, at ¶ 7.) They were told that the Bank was willing to finance new projects.¹ (*Id.*) The Bank did not solicit business from any particular entity owned by the Van Engelens, but wanted a relationship with the Van Engelens so that it might have access to loaning money to all the entities that the Van Engelens controlled. (R. Vol. III, p. 00463, at ¶ 4.) Later that month, the Van Engelens learned that a real estate development called Carriage Hill No. 3 and No. 4 was for sale. (R. Vol. I, p. 00097, at ¶ 8.) The Van Engelens had conversations with the Bank about financing this project. (R. Vol. III, p. 00463, at ¶ 5.) At that time, they had not determined which of their entities would purchase the project. (*Id.*) They solicited loan proposals from the Bank and two other lending institutions. (R. Vol. II, p. 00371, at p. 26 L. 21 – p. 27 L. 1.)

¹ There is disagreement about the content of this meeting, but Bank representatives agree that this meeting occurred. (R. Vol. II, p. 66 L. 13 – p. 68 L. 25.)

In February 2005, Bryan Churchill, a loan officer for the Bank, submitted a loan proposal.² (R. Vol. II, p. 00339, at p. 20 L. 6-9; R. Vol. I, p. 00087, at ¶ 10; R. Vol. I, p. 00097, at ¶ 10.) The Bank said that it would require a down payment of 20 percent, and a personal guarantee signed by the Van Engelens. (R. Vol. I, p. 00087, at ¶ 10; R. Vol. I, p. 00097, at ¶ 10.) Around that time, the Van Engelens had a discussion with another developer about personal guarantees and decided that, where possible, they would not sign personal guarantees. (R. Vol. III, p. 00463, ¶ 6.) Mr. Van Engelen therefore told Mr. Churchill that other lenders had submitted stronger proposals, (R. Vol. II, p. 00371, at p. 27 L. 22 – p. 28 L. 13,) and explained that they would accept a loan from the Bank only if it agreed to not require a personal guarantee. (R. Vol. II, p. 00373, at p. 34 L. 23 – p. 35 L. 19.) Because of the Van Engelens' previous bad experience with the Bank, they were very demanding about the conditions under which they would do future business with the Bank. (R. Vol. III, p. 00463, ¶ 6.) The Van Engelens made it very clear to Mr. Churchill that they would not cause any of their entities to do business with the Bank if doing so required them to personally guaranty any loans. (*Id.*; R. Vol. II, p. 00373, at p. 35 L. 16-19.) Mr. Churchill said that he would have to take this and other requested terms to the loan committee. (R. Vol. II, p. 00374, at p. 40 L. 2-3.) A few days later Mr. Churchill told Mr. Van Engelen that the loan had been approved with these requested terms, including not requiring a personal guarantee. (R. Vol. II, p. 00373, p. 36 L. 4-22.) During these discussions, Mr. Churchill never

² As Mr. Churchill testified, the Bank chose not to put the loan proposal in writing. (R. Vol. II, p. 20 L. 10-14.)

mentioned that they had previously signed continuing personal guarantees on behalf of some of their entities, including both NWD and VED. (R. Vol. II, p. 00369, at p. 20 L. 20 – p. 21 L. 18; R. Vol. III, p. 00463, ¶ 6.) Instead, he falsely assured the Van Engelens that personal guarantees would not be required. (*Id.*)

On February 22, 2005, the Van Engelens therefore caused NWD to enter into two loan agreements with the Bank for the purchase of Carriage Hill No. 3 and No. 4 (“the Carriage Hill No. 3 and No. 4 Loans”). (R. Vol. I, p. 00097, at ¶ 8; R. Vol. III, p. 00423 and 00432.) At closing the Van Engelens again sought assurance that a personal guarantee would not be required for the Carriage Hill No. 3 and No. 4 Loans. (R. Vol. II, p. 00372-00373, at p. 32 L. 15 – p. 33 L. 9 and p. 34 L. 9-14.) A representative of the Bank responded that while the Bank usually required people to sign personal guarantees, the Van Engelens would not be required to do so because of their long term relationship with the Bank and the longevity of their company. (R. Vol. II, p. 00373, at 33 L. 3-9; R. Vol. II, p. 00390, at p. 25 L. 23 – p. 27:8.)

In order to develop the Carriage Hill project, between January 18, 2006, and March 28, 2007, the Van Engelens caused their other entity, VED, to enter six real estate development and construction loans with the Bank in the amount approximately \$6 million (“the Six Loans”). (R. Vol. I, p. 00046, at ¶ 3; R. Vol. III, p. 00464-00465, ¶ 9). Each loan was evidenced by a promissory note (R. Vol I, p. 00050-55,) and secured by a deed of trust on various parcels of real property. (R. Vol. I, p. 00046, at ¶ 5.) At the time that the Six Loans were made, the Bank knew of the existence of the continuing personal Guarantee that the Van Engelens had signed with respect to VED in 2002. (R. Vol. II, p. 00343-00344, at p. 36 L. 23 – p. 37 L. 5). The Van

Engelens were unaware of the existence of the Guarantee. (R. Vol. I, p. 00086, at ¶ 3; R. Vol. I, p. 00096, at ¶ 3.) Despite the fact that the Van Engelens had previously made it clear to the Bank that they would not do business with the Bank if they were required to sign personal guarantees, and had received assurances in general and at the time of the Carriage Hill No. 3 and No. 4 loans that guarantees would not be required, the Bank never disclosed that these Six Loans were subject to this Guarantee. (R. Vol. III, p. 00465, ¶ 10). The loan documents did not include a personal guarantee, or mention or reference the earlier signed Guarantee. (R. Vol. II, p. 00342-00343, at p. 30 L. 12 – p. 34 L. 24 and p. 36 L. 4-22; R. Vol. II, p. 00361, at p. 20 L. 11-13.) Although it would have been Mr. Churchill's custom to remind borrowers that their loan was covered by a continuing general guarantee, Mr. Churchill did not give this reminder to the Van Engelens. (R. Vol. II, p. 00340, at p. 22 L. 2-20.) Neither did Gloria Henson, who may have been present at the closings. (R. Vol. II, p. 00360, at p. 13 L. 18 – p. 14 L. 1.)

Because the Van Engelens had been previously told that the loans they caused their businesses to borrow would not be guaranteed, they believed that the Six Loans were not guaranteed. (R. Vol. III, p. 00465, at ¶ 10.) Indeed, they caused VED to borrow the money from the Bank in reliance on the Bank's previous representations that it would not require personal guarantees (*Id.*) The Van Engelens had no reason to think the Six Loans were subject to a personal guarantee because (1) they had previously communicated to the Bank that one of the prerequisites for their business was no personal guarantee; (2) they had confirmed this with respect to the Carriage Hill No. 3 and 4 Loans; (3) with respect to the Carriage Hill No. 3 and 4 Loans, the Bank had twice told them that no personal guarantee would apply (which was

untrue.); and (5) the Bank never mentioned that, contrary to the agreement made in February 2005, these later loans would be subject to a personal guarantee. (R. Vol. III, p. 00453, ¶ 12.)

2. The Lawsuit and Course of Proceedings

VED ultimately defaulted on the Six Loans. (R. Vol. I, p. 00046, at ¶ 6.) The Bank instituted a non-judicial foreclosure sale upon the real property securing the respective loans. (R. Vol. I, p. 00047, at ¶ 7.) Even after the disposition of the collateral, a deficiency of \$4,452,809.67 remained. (R. Vol. I, p. 00048, at ¶ 10.) The following table summarizes the deficiency balances calculated as of the date of the foreclosure sales:

Loan No.	Principal	Interest & Late Fees	Foreclosure Expenses	Sale Price	Balance
313170-3	214,634.56	10,959.80	2,865.88	214,634.56	13,825.68
316243-5	2,667,492.73	172,021.63	8,867.54	809,000.00	2,039,381.90
316250-0	2,695,995.83	216,513.27	9,416.25	568,000.00	2,353,925.35
329660-5	198,792.76	12,975.38	2,253.46	198,792.21	15,229.39
329683-7	224,619.76	14,653.86	2,266.36	224,579.76	16,960.22
329690-2	224,325.33	11,303.12	2,154.94	224,296.26	13,487.13

(R. Vol. I, p. 00058.) While the Bank thereafter sold some of the houses on the foreclosed property, (R. Vol. II, p. 00352, at p. 72 L. 5-23,) the Bank has not constructed additional homes on the lots, (R. Vol. II, p. 00352-00353, at p. 72 L. 24 – p. 73 L. 3,) and is simply holding the property in anticipation of further profits from the sale or development of the property in the future. (*Id.* at p. 76 L. 1-19.)

On September 9, 2009, the Bank filed a lawsuit against the Van Engelens in their capacity of personal guarantors for the deficiency of \$4,452,809.67 plus interest. (R. Vol. I, p. 00008-00011.) The Bank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on April 6, 2010. (R. Vol. I, p.

00019.) The parties both filed initial briefing and affidavits, (R. Vol. I, p. 00021-00058, 00065-00099.) The Bank vacated the hearing on this Motion so further discovery could be conducted. (See R. Vol. I, p. 00003, 00106.) Following this discovery, the parties re-briefed the Motion for Summary Judgment (R. Vol. II, p. 00288-307; R. Vol. III, p. 000398-00417,) and filed additional evidence. (R. Vol. I, p. 00117 – R. Vol. II, p. 00287; all R. Vol. III.) The Motion was scheduled for a hearing on October 28, 2010, but at that hearing the district court asked for additional briefing on a statute of limitations issue and clarification on the facts. (Tr. p. 5 L. 1 – p. 8 L. 25.) The parties provided this briefing and additional affidavits. (R. Vol. III, p. 00462-00495.)

At the summary judgment hearing held on November 12, 2010, the district court granted summary judgment³ in favor of Washington Federal. (Tr. p. 45 L. 9 – p. 78 L. 2.) In particular, the district court held:

- (1) That the oral statements and misrepresentations made by the Bank concerning the existence of the personal guarantee cannot alter the Bank's ability to enforce the terms of the agreement because of the operation of the Statute of Frauds, and because no consideration was given for a modification. (Tr. p. 52 L. 15-25 and p. 58 L. 16 – p. 61 L. 14.)
- (2) That the statements made to the Van Engelens or misconduct by the Bank in connection with the Carriage Hill No. 3 and 4 loans taken out by NWD were irrelevant to the Six Loans at issue in this case taken out by VED. (Tr. p. 53 L. 16 – p. 54 L. 1.)
- (3) That the Van Engelens defense of violation of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing fails because requiring the Bank to tell the Van Engelens

³ The district court stated its rationale entirely on the record of that hearing, and did not issue a separate written opinion.

about the existence of the guarantee would contradict an express term of the guarantee. (Tr. p. 62 L. 24 – p. 77 L. 7.)

- (4) That there is no genuine issue of material fact that the Bank waived any of its rights with respect to the Guarantee because the statements made to the Van Engelens in connection with the Carriage Hill No. 3 and 4 loans taken out by NWD were inapplicable to the Six Loans taken out by VED. (Tr. p. 67 L. 14 – p. 68 L. 11.)
- (5) That there is no genuine issue of material fact that the Bank is estopped from claiming the existence of the Guarantee because the Van Engelens could have discovered the existence of the Guarantee and because the statements in connection with the Carriage Hill No. 3 and 4 loans taken out by NWD were inapplicable to the Six Loans taken out by VED. (Tr. p. 68 L. 12 – p. 70 L. 12.)
- (6) That there is no genuine issue of material fact on the Van Engelens' defense of quasi-estoppel because the statements in connection with the Carriage Hill No. 3 and 4 loans taken out by NWD were inapplicable to the Six Loans taken out by VED. (Tr. p. 71 L. 5-18.)
- (7) That there is no genuine issue of material fact on the Van Engelens' defenses of set-off, mitigation, unjust enrichment, and double recovery because a guarantor is not entitled to the protections of Idaho's anti-deficiently statute. (Tr. p. 72 L. 13 – p. 76 L. 4.)
- (8) That there is no genuine issue of material fact on the Van Engelens' defenses of misrepresentation and discharge because the Van Engelens waived any disclosure of the guarantee and because any matters in connection with the Carriage Hill No. 3 and 4 loans taken out by NWD were inapplicable to the Six Loans taken out by VED. (Tr. p. 76 L. 17 – p. 77 L. 7.)
- (9) That there is no genuine issue of material fact on the question of whether the guarantee was intended to apply to the Six Loans because the language of the guarantee extends to all obligations. (Tr. p. 76 L. 5-16.)

- (10) There is no genuine issue of material fact on the Van Engelens' defense of fraudulent inducement because representations as to future events will not support fraud or fraudulent inducement. (Tr. p. 77 L. 8-18.)⁴

The Court therefore entered judgment against the Van Engelens in the sum of \$5,036,998.86, which included costs and attorney fees. (R. Vol. III, p. 00519-00520.) The Van Engelens contend that the district court erred in granting summary judgment to the Bank because genuine issues of material fact do exist on their affirmative defenses.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. **Whether the district court erred in holding that no genuine issues of material fact existed on the Van Engelens' affirmative defenses, and therefore granting summary judgment in favor of the Bank.**
2. **Whether the Van Engelens are entitled to attorney fees on appeal pursuant to Idaho Appellate Rules 40 and 41, and Idaho Code § 12-12-(3).**

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

When the Supreme Court reviews the granting of a motion for summary judgment, it applies the same standard used by the trial court in ruling on the motion. *Infanger v. City of Salmon*, 137 Idaho 45, 46-47, 44 P.3d 1100, 1101-1102 (2002). Because summary judgment is an extreme remedy, the Court must construe all disputed facts, and draw all reasonable inferences from the record, in favor of the non-moving party, the Van Engelens. *Mackay v. Four*

⁴ The Van Engelens do not appeal the district court's finding that no genuine issue of material fact exists on their affirmative defense of failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, set off, unfair and deceptive trade practices, and unclean hands.

Rivers Packing Co., 145 Idaho 408, 410, 179 P.3d 1064, 1066 (2008); *Hecla Mining Co. v. Star-Morning Mining Co.*, 122 Idaho 778, 784, 839 P.2d 1192, 1198 (1992). Summary judgment is appropriate only if the evidence in the record and any admissions show that there is no genuine issue of any material fact regarding the issues raised in the pleadings and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Mareci v. Coeur D'Alene School Dist. No. 271*, 150 Idaho 740, 250 P.3d 791 (2011). A nonmoving defendant has the burden of supporting a claimed affirmative defense on a motion for summary judgment. *Chandler v. Hayden*, 147 Idaho 765, 771, 215 P.3d 485, 491 (2009). In the present case, the Van Engelens have made a showing sufficient to establish the existence of genuine issues of material fact on the elements essential to establish their affirmative defenses. *See, Brewer v. Washington RSA No. 8 Ltd. P'ship*, 145 Idaho 735, 739, 184 P.3d 860, 864 (2008). As such, the district court erred in granting summary judgment to the Bank.

B. Evidence Concerning the Bank's Course of Misconduct Establishes Genuine Issues of Material Fact on the Van Engelens' Affirmative Defenses

Contrary to the district court's ruling, the Van Engelens have demonstrated that genuine issues of material fact exist on their affirmative defenses. One key ruling that permeated the district court's opinion was the court's determination that any misrepresentations or other misconduct by the Bank in the context of the Carriage Hill No. 3 and No. 4 loans entered into by NWD was irrelevant to the Six Loans at issue in this case entered into by VED. In so finding, the Court essentially held that all of the misconduct described by the Van Engelens was

irrelevant to the case and therefore insufficient to raise a genuine issue of material fact. In fact, this course of misconduct is highly relevant to the Van Engelens' affirmative defenses.

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