Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-13-2011

Washington Federal Savings v. Engelen Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38484

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

ARGUMENT

Although the issues presented on appeal are framed in the Appellants' brief in the broadest possible terms, their arguments are much narrower, focusing primarily on two questions:

• Did Washington Federal have a duty to disclose the existence of the 2002 continuing Guaranty when extending the 2006-2007 Loans to VED?

• Was the alleged oral modification of the 2002 continuing Guaranty barred by (i) the Statute of Frauds, (ii) lack of consideration, and/or (iii) lack of relevant evidence?

A. The District Court Did Not Err When it Found that Washington Federal had no Duty to Disclose the Subject Continuing Guaranty

In support of their affirmative defenses, the Van Engelens repeatedly assert that Washington Federal had a duty to disclose the existence of the subject Guaranty. (R. Vol. I, p. 00068-00078; R. Vol. I, p. 00112 at ¶ 6, 10 -13; R. Vol. III, p. 00404-00414; R. Vol. III, p. 00472; Appellants' Brief, p. 24 -32, 40; Tr. p. 41 L. 13-19.) This common theme was recognized by the District Court:

[T]he essential argument that's pervasive throughout all of the affirmative defenses is that somehow the bank should have disclosed the existence of the 2002 guaranty agreement even though there's an express waiver of their requirement to disclose. (Tr. p. 64, L. 1-5.)

As I indicted earlier, the pervasive theme thought [sic] all of these affirmative defenses seems to stem from this idea that the Van – that the bank had some obligation to remind them that they had signed this continuing guaranty in 2002. (Tr. p. 66, L. 25 - p. 67, L. 4.)

The District Court's finding that Washington Federal had no duty to disclose the 2002 continuing Guaranty was proper as their was neither a contractual nor legal duty to disclose.

1. No contractual duty existed for Washington Federal to disclose the Guaranty.

Washington Federal is under no contractual duty to disclose the existence of the Guaranty. (R. Vol. I, p. 00056-00057.) In fact, as set forth above, the Guaranty specifically removes any duty to notify the Van Engelens when Washington Federal lends money or extends other credit to VED. Paragraph 7 of the Guaranty entitled "Guarantor's Additional Waivers of Notice" reads:

Lender does not have to notify Guarantor of any of the following events and this will not affect Guarantor's Promise.

(a) Lender does not have to notify Guarantor of Lender's acceptance of Guarantor's

Promise.

(b) Lender does not have to notify Guarantor when lender lends money or extends other credit to Borrower or acquires Obligations of Borrower.

(R. Vol. I, p. 00056-00057.) Said differently, the Van Engelens waived any right to receive notice from Washington Federal when it lent money or extended other credit to VED (the Borrower).

The rights of a creditor against a guarantor are determined strictly from the terms of the guaranty agreement. If the guaranty is clear and unequivocal, there is no occasion for the court to consider extrinsic evidence of the parties' intent. Rather, the intent of the parties must be derived from the language of the guaranty if it is unambiguous. *Valley Bank v. Larson*, 104 Idaho 772, 775, 663 P.2d 653, 656 (1983); *McGill v. Idaho Bank & Trust*, 102 Idaho 494, 498, 632 P.2d 683, 687 (1981); *Ponderosa Paint Mfg. Inc. v. Yack*, 125 Idaho 310, 319, 870 P.2d 663, 672 (Ct.App.1994); *CIT Financial Services v. Herb' Indoor RV Center, Inc.*, 118 Idaho 185, 187, 795 P.2d 890, 892 (Ct.App.1990); *Johnson Equipment v. Nielson*, 108 Idaho 867, 871, 702 P.2d 905, 909 (Ct.App. 1985). Further, when the guaranty is unconditional, the guarantor may not imply limitations upon the creditor's right to recover. *CIT Financial Services v. Herb's Indoor RV Center, Inc.*, 118 Idaho 185, 187, 795 P.2d 890, 892 (Ct.App.1990).

As the District Court noted in its oral decision, the Van Engelens never asserted that the Guaranty is ambiguous. (Tr. p. 46, L. 8-10; p. 57, L. 17-19.) The District Court found that the Guaranty was clearly a future guaranty. (Tr. p. 46, L. 16-47 L. 2.) The District Court also found that the Guaranty clearly required a written notice to Washington Federal by the Van Engelens to withdraw their guaranty promise. (Tr. p. 47, L. 3-25.) Significantly, the District Court also recognized that Washington Federal had no duty to disclose the continuing Guaranty because a

specific provision under Guaranty states it does not have to do so. (Tr. p. 66, L. 2-7; p. 66, L. 25 - p. 67, L. 9.) All the Van Engelens needed to do to withdraw their guaranty promise was to give Washington Federal written notice of the same. (R. Vol. I, p. 00056-00057 at ¶ 3; Tr. p. 47, L. 6 - 14; p. 58, L. 7-15; p. 59, L. 16-23.) Finally, the District Court properly concluded that the Van Engelens' contention that they didn't recall signing the Guaranty as a reason for not issuing a written withdrawal of their promise is not an excuse under the law. (Tr. p. 31, L. 25 - p. 32 L. 8; p. 33, L. 7 - 11.)

2. No duty of disclosure arises under the Restatement of Torts.

In support of their argument that Washington Federal had a duty to disclose the existence of the 2002 Guaranty, the Van Engelens rely upon Restatement 2d Torts §551 (*see* Appellants' Brief, p. 24-25, 29.), as follows:

§ 551. Liability for Nondisclosure

- (1) One who falls to disclose to another a fact that he knows may justifiably induce the other to act or refrain from acting in a business transaction is subject to the same liability to the other as though he had represented the nonexistence of the matter that he has failed to disclose, if, but only if, he is under a duty to the other to exercise reasonable care to disclose the matter in question.
- (2) One party to a business transaction is under a duty to exercise reasonable care to disclose to the other before the transaction is consummated,
 - (a) matters known to him that the other is entitled to know because of a fiduciary or other similar relation of trust and confidence between them; and
 - (b) matters known to him that he knows to be necessary to prevent his partial or ambiguous statement of the facts from being misleading; and

- (c) subsequently acquired information that he knows will make untrue or misleading a previous representation that when made was true or believed to be so; and
- (d) the falsity of a representation not made with the expectation that it would he acted upon, if he subsequently learns that the other is about to act in reliance upon it in a transaction with him; and
- (e) facts basic to the transaction, if he knows that the other is about to enter into it under a mistake as to them, and that the other, because of the relationship between them, the customs of the trade or other objective circumstances, would reasonably expect a disclosure of those facts.

(Emphasis added). The Van Engelens' reliance upon the Restatement is misplaced because (a) no fiduciary duty existed between them and Washington Federal, and (b) any alleged misrepresentations were made in context of the 2005 Loans to NWD, not the 2006-2007 Loans at issue herein.

a. No fiduciary duty existed between Washington Federal and the Van Engelens.

In Idaho, a general debtor-creditor relationship does not create a fiduciary relationship. *Idaho First Nat. Bank v. Bliss Valley Food, Inc.*, 121 Idaho 266, 824 P.2d 841 (1991). This Court in *Black Canyon Racquetball Club, Inc. v. Idaho First Nat. Bank, N.A.*, 119 Idaho 171, 804 P.2d 900 (1991) has previously held the following:

We have been unable to locate any case in which a fiduciary relationship was held to arise solely through a longstanding creditor-debtor relationship or prior dealings between the customer and the bank." ... The rule expressed in the above cases holds that the relationship in a lender-borrower situation is a debtor-creditor relationship, and not a fiduciary relationship.

119 Idaho at 176, 804 P.2d at 905 (citing Dugan v. First National Bank of Wichita, 227 Kan. 201, 606 P.2d 1009, 1015 (1980). A fiduciary relationship may arise between a lender and a borrow in limited circumstance where (i) an agreement between the parties creates a duty; or (ii) when the

lender exercises complete control over the disbursement of funds. *See Madrid v. Roth*, 134 Idaho 802, 804-05, 10 P.3d 751, 753-74 (Ct.App.2000) *citing Wooden v. First Security Bank of Idaho*, *N.A.*, 121 Idaho 98, 100, 822 P.2d 995, 997 (1991).

In this instance there is (i) no agreement or contract creating a fiduciary duty between the parties, (ii) nor did Washington Federal exercise complete control over disbursement of the 2006-2007 Loans. Rather, the funds were disbursed to the Van Engelens on each of the six separate loans who then exercised complete control over the funds. (R. Vol. I, p. 00046 at ¶ 4.) As such, no fiduciary duty under Idaho law was imposed upon Washington Federal to disclose the existence of the 2002 continuing Guaranty.

b. The alleged misrepresentations were made in the context of the 2005 Loans to NWD, not the 2006-2007 Loans to VED.

As noted above, the District Court assumed for the purposes of summary judgment that the Van Engelens' allegations regarding the misrepresentations in 2005 by Washington Federal employees were true. (Tr. p. 45, L. 14 - 20; p. 51 L. 18 - 24; p. 52, L. 6 - 17.) Throughout his various affidavits, Craig Van Engelen consistently acknowledged that the alleged misrepresentations were made during the course of negotiation and closing of the 2005 Loans to NWD. (R. Vol. I, p. 00097 at ¶ 10 - 15; R. Vol. III, p. 00452 - 00453 at ¶ 8, 12.) Although he mistakenly identified VED as the borrowing entity for the 2005 Loans in his initial affidavit, he subsequently corrected that error and acknowledged that NWD was the borrower. (R. Vol. III, p. 00464 at ¶ 8.)

The Van Engelens offered no evidence below to suggest that during negotiation and closing of the 2005 Loans to NWD, the parties discussed, or even contemplated, the 2006-2007 Loans to VED. Nor did they offer evidence that Washington Federal employees made any representations

whatsoever concerning the Van Engelens' personal guaranty of the 2006-2007 Loans to VED, only that Washington Federal failed to disclose the existence of the 2002 guaranty.

In substance, the alleged misrepresentations were "you [Van Engelens] don't have to personally guaranty the loans to NWD." As discussed at more length in Section B.1 below, the District Court recognized the separate legal status of NWD and VED, and found that the allegations of misrepresentation, even if proven true, "are irrelevant to the current cause of action based on loans that were ultimately made at least a year later to the Van Engelens' corporate entity, Van Engelen Development, Inc." (Tr. p. 53, L. 16 - p. 54, L. 1.) The district court's finding is consistent with a reasoned interpretation and application of the various duties described in sections 2(b) - (e) of Restatement §551. To conclude otherwise, the Court must (i) ignore the specific waiver contained in the guaranty, and (ii) find that statements concerning the guaranty of loans to one legal entity may, by reason of nothing more than common stock ownership, be relied upon in subsequent transactions involving loans to a distinct legal entity. Such a conclusion would permit the very party [Van Engelens} who bears primary responsibility to maintain the individual integrity of each entity, the discretion to assert or ignore the corporate veil to their personal benefit. Clearly such a result is absurd.

- B. The District Court Did Not Err When It Found that (1) the Van Engelens' Alleged Oral Modification of the Guaranty violated Idaho's Statute of Frauds, I.C. § 9-505(2); (2) that Any Alleged Modification Failed for Lack of Consideration; and (3) the Alleged Misrepresentations Relating to the 2005 Loans to NWD were Irrelevant.
 - 1. Statute of Frauds I.C. § 9-505(2)

In its decision, the District Court also held that any oral modifications of the continuing personal Guaranty, either by the Van Engelens or Washington Federal, would run afoul Idaho's

Statute of Frauds, I.C. § 9-505(2). Idaho Code § 9-505 reads in part as follows:

In the following cases the agreement is invalid, unless the same or some note or memorandum thereof, be in writing and subscribed by the party charged, or by his agent. Evidence, therefore, of the agreement cannot be received without the writing or secondary evidence of its contents:

...

(2) A special promise to answer for the debt, default or miscarriage of another, except in the cases provided for in section 9-506, Idaho Code.

• •

Contrary to the Van Engelens' contention otherwise, *USA Fertilizer, Inc. v. Idaho First Nat. Bank,* 120 Idaho 271, 815 P.2d 469 (Ct.App. 1991) is directly on point in relation to oral modifications of guarantees. In *USA Fertilizer, Inc. v. Idaho First Nat'l Bank,* 120 Idaho 271, 276, 815 P.2d 469, 474 (Ct.App.1991), the Court held that oral modifications of a guarantee are barred under the foregoing provisions of the statute of frauds. In that case, the Defendant-Bank issued an irrevocable letter of credit guarantee in the amount of \$15,000.00 in favor of Plaintiff-fertilizer company for a term of 30 days. *Id.* at 272. The bank argued that it issued the letter of credit guaranty solely for the purpose of ensuring that the plaintiff would not be "left hanging" pending the approval and processing of an operating loan, for the bank's customer Sterling Smith, and that once the operating loan was approved, the plaintiff could no longer look to the letter of credit, only to the funds available for payment from the approved operating loan. *Id.* at 274-75.

The plaintiff argued, *inter alia*, that an additional "interpretation" of the 30 day letter of credit guaranty was provided by a bank representative, which further clarified the parties' original understanding of the letter of credit. *Id.* at 275. The plaintiff alleged that during this phone call, the bank representative's "interpretation" allowed the plaintiff to demand payment any time Mr. Smith's account was thirty days late, and thus morphed into a continuing guarantee extending to all unpaid

billings incurred through the 1987 crop season, (as opposed to just the initial application of fertilizer to Mr. Smith's fields). *Id.* at 273-275.

In a footnote, the Court in *USA Fertilizer* made an important distinction that "evidence of the parties" subsequent conduct may be admissible to explain or clarify the meaning intended by the parties to a contract. However, this principle is pertinent to issues involving the applicability of the parol evidence exclusionary rule; it does not apply to avoid the operation of the statute of frauds." *Id.* at 275. (emphasis added). The Court further held that to the extent plaintiff sought to argue that this "evidence as altering the original terms of the guarantee, we note that such <u>an oral modification would be barred under the statute of frauds</u>." *Id.* at 275. (emphasis added).

In the case at bar, the Van Engelens seek to nullify the continuing Guaranty based upon (i) allegations that Washington Federal orally agreed they would not be required to guaranty the 2005 Loans to NWD, and (2) Washington Federal's failure to disclose the existence of the guaranties during closing of the 2006-2007 Loans to VED. In each instance, the Van Engelens are asking this Court to allow oral modification of the Guaranty. The former argument necessarily relies upon an alleged oral modification of the explicit provision of the Guaranty which requires written notice of any withdrawal thereof by the Van Engelens. The latter argument similarly relies upon oral statements to modify the provisions of the Guaranty wherein the Van Engelens specifically waived notice of (a) Washington Federal's acceptance of the Van Engelens' promise to pay, and (b) any loans extended to VED. Based upon Idaho Code §9-505, as interpreted in *USA Fertilizer*, the Van Engelens' arguments are fatally flawed as a matter of law. Therefore the District Court's ruling that the Statute of Frauds barred any alleged oral modification of the Guaranty - i.e, the requirement that their guaranty promise could be withdrawn only upon receipt of written notice - should be affirmed

on appeal.

2. Lack of Consideration.

Despite the Van Engelens' contention otherwise, their attempt to withdraw their guaranty promise orally <u>is</u> a modification of the continuing Guaranty. Paragraph 3 of the Guaranty entitled "Written Notice Needed to Withdraw Guarantor's Promise" clearly states that the Van Engelens' continuing guaranty "shall remain effective until Lender actually receives written notice from Guarantor that Guarantor withdraws Guarantor's Promise." (R. Vol. I, p. 00056-00057 at ¶ 3.) Any deviation or change from this clearly worded contractual requirement constitutes a modification.

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